# FILED 10/5/2017 10:53 AM Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 34851-2

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
State of Washington, Respondent
vs.
Kasi L. Sleater, Appellant
Petition for Review to the Washington Supreme Court

Vitaliy Kertchen #45183 Attorney for Ms. Sleater 711 Court A, Suite 104 Tacoma, WA 98402 253-905-8415 vitaliy@kertchenlaw.com

#

# **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Kasi L. Sleater, appellant, petitions the Washington Supreme Court for review.

# COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division III, affirmed the trial court's denial of Ms. Sleater's motion to vacate. This occurred via published opinion on September 28, 2017. Ms. Sleater did not seek reconsideration.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does Ms. Sleater have a conviction for a "new crime" since the date of discharge for the purposes of vacating a felony conviction under RCW 9.94A.640 where the new crime occurred prior to the discharge date, but Ms. Sleater was convicted after the discharge date?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, the Benton County Superior Court convicted Kasi Sleater of a violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act for an offense committed on May 2, 2005. Agreed Report of Proceedings (ARP) at 1:2-3; Clerk's Papers (CP) at 1. The date of discharge for that offense is May 22, 2008. ARP at 1:3-5; CP at 66. On May 29, 2008, the same court convicted

Ms. Sleater of another violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act for an offense committed on May 15, 2008. ARP at 1:6-7; CP at 53. Thus, the date of Ms. Sleater's discharge for the 2005 offense (May 22, 2008) occurred between the dates she committed and was convicted of the 2008 offense (May 15, 2008 and May 29, 2008, respectively). ARP at 1:8-10.

In October 2016, Ms. Sleater filed a motion to vacate the 2005 case under RCW 9.94A.640, arguing that she had not been "convicted of a new crime . . . since the date of the offender's discharge" because her 2008 offense occurred prior to the discharge date for the 2005 offense. ARP at 1:11-12; CP at 15. The trial court denied the motion because the conviction for the 2008 offense occurred after the date of discharge for the 2005 offense. ARP at 2:22-23; CP at 63. The Court of Appeals affirmed the denial on the same basis. Appendix.

#### ARGUMENT

The Washington Supreme Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals is in conflict with well settled supreme court precedent and this case involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Two relevant considerations in granting review are whether the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of the supreme court and whether the case presents an issue of substantial public interest.

RAP 13.4(b). A decision that has the potential to affect a number of

proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Here, the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with well settled supreme court precedent on the principles of statutory construction because it adopted an untenable interpretation of RCW 9.94A.640 that reads the word "new" completely out of the statute and renders it meaningless. Likewise, because the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion, this error is likely to permeate to the lower courts. Trial courts across the state hear thousands of motions to vacate both felony and misdemeanor convictions<sup>1</sup> every year. This is an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals adopted an untenable interpretation of RCW 9.94A.640 by reading the word "new" out of the statute, violating principles of statutory construction.

The felony vacate statute provides that the record of conviction may not be cleared if "the offender has been convicted of a *new crime* . . . since the date of the offender's discharge under RCW 9.94A.637." RCW

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Both the felony vacate (RCW 9.94A.640) and the misdemeanor vacate (RCW 9.96.060) statutes use the same "new crime" language, but with different triggering dates. Thus, the Court of Appeals's decision indirectly affects misdemeanor vacates as well.

9.94A.640(2)(d) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals ruled that the statute is not ambiguous, that the focus of the statute is the word "convicted," and that any conviction that occurs after the date of discharge invokes this clause. Without any citation to authority or logic, the Court of Appeals in a footnote also concluded that the word "new" doesn't really mean "new" – it must mean "different."

### 1. RCW 9.94A.640 is ambiguous.

A statute is ambiguous whenever it is amenable to more than one reasonable interpretation. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 621, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Ms. Sleater's interpretation of RCW 9.94A.640 is entirely reasonable. It is reasonable to interpret the word "new" to actually mean "new" – something that has "recently come into being." Black's Law Dictionary 1204 (10th ed. 2014). Combining the word "new" with what follows, "crime . . . since the date of the offender's discharge," leads to a reasonable conclusion that the crime must be "new" – having recently come into being – since the date of discharge. "New" modifies the crime, not the conviction. Otherwise, there would be no need to use the word

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The full definition is: "**new**, *adj*. (bef. 12c) **1.** (Of a person, animal or thing) recently come into being . . . **2.** (Of any thing) recently discovered . . . **3.** (Of a person or condition) changed from the former state . . . **4.** Unfamiliar; unaccustomed . . . **5.** Beginning afresh . . . .

"new." It is also reasonable to reject the Court of Appeals's proposed definition of "new" as simply "different" since there is no authority, legal or etymological, that supports such contortion of the English language.

Ms. Sleater's 2008 offense did not result in a conviction for a new crime because the crime already existed prior to the date of discharge on the 2005 offense. It had not recently come into being since the date of discharge.

# 2. The Court of Appeals ruling violates principles of statutory construction.

"Legislative history, principles of statutory construction, and relevant case law may provide guidance in construing the meaning of an ambiguous statute." *Roggenkamp*, 152 Wn.2d at 621, 106 P.3d 196. A settled principle of statutory construction is that each word is to be accorded meaning and legislators are presumed to have used no superfluous words. *Id.* at 624. Courts must accord meaning, if possible, to every word in a statute. *Id.* "Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals's ruling violates these settled principles by nullifying the word "new." A version of the statute that reads "the

offender has been convicted of a [] crime . . . since the date of the offender's discharge under RCW 9.94A.637" creates the exact same result as the Court of Appeals's interpretation of the actual language of RCW 9.94A.640. The word "new" is rendered meaningless and superfluous.

Clearly, the legislature could not have meant "new" as "different," otherwise it could have kept the word "new" out completely, used the word "different" or a synonym, or worded the statute as "the offender has a *new conviction* . . . since the date of the offender's discharge." But the legislature did not do any of those, it chose to use the words "new crime . . . since the date of the offender's discharge" in tandem for a reason. The only way to square this language with principles of statutory construction is to interpret it in Ms. Sleater's favor.

# 3. The rule of lenity applies.

If principles of statutory construction are insufficient to resolve the ambiguity, courts must apply the rule of lenity to interpret the statute in favor of the defendant. *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 193, 298 P.3d 724 (2013). The Court of Appeals declined to apply the rule of lenity because it incorrectly found the statute unambiguous, but the statute is ambiguous and the rule of lenity should apply to resolve the ambiguity in Ms. Sleater's favor.

# **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, the Washington Supreme Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with supreme court precedent and this case presents an issue of substantial public interest.