FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/3/2017 2:57 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95076-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

KASI LYNN SLEATER, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Eric. T. Andrews Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 52529 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does Ms. Sleater have a conviction for a "new crime" since the date of discharge for the purposes of vacating a felony conviction under RCW 9.94A.640 where the new crime occurred prior to the discharge date, but Ms. Sleater was convicted after the discharge date?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2016, the defendant, Kasi Sleater, moved the Benton County Superior Court for an order vacating the record of a 2006 felony conviction for Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance (methamphetamine) (hereinafter the "2006 felony conviction"). Agreed Report of Proceedings (ARP) at 1:2-3; Clerk's Papers (CP) 1. Ms. Sleater's motion was brought pursuant to RCW 9.94A.640. CP 15-16.

Under RCW 9.94A.640(1) and (2), an offender may not have the record of a felony conviction vacated if she fails even one of several tests prescribed by statute. Under this statute, an offender may not have the record of conviction vacated if she has been convicted of a new crime since the date she was discharged under RCW 9.94A.637. See RCW 9.94A.640(2)(d).

In Ms. Sleater's case, she was discharged on the 2006 felony conviction on May 22, 2008. ARP at 1:3-5; CP 66. One week later, on May 29, 2008, she was convicted of a new crime (hereinafter the "2008

felony conviction"). ARP at 1:6-7; CP 53. Consequently, she is disqualified under RCW 9.94A.640(2)(d) from vacating the record of her 2006 felony conviction, unless or until her 2008 felony conviction is vacated or otherwise cleared. For this reason, the trial court denied Ms. Sleater's Motion to Vacate Felony at a hearing on October 26, 2016. ARP at 2:22-23; CP 63-65. The Court of Appeals affirmed the denial on the same basis. *State v. Sleater*, 403 P.3d 84, 86 (2017).

III. ARGUMENT

- A. The Washington Supreme Court should not grant review because the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with well settled Supreme Court precedent and this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.
 - 1. Supreme Court precedent remains undisturbed.

Ms. Sleater requests review of the appellate court's affirmation of the trial court's decision to deny her motion to vacate because the decision disturbs Supreme Court precedent. Petition for Review (PRV) at 3; RAP 13.4(b). Her sole argument on appeal is that the trial court erroneously interpreted RCW 9.94A.640(2)(d). She contends that under the plain language of the statute, offenders who both (1) commit a "new crime" (2) before the date of discharge and (3) are convicted of the "new crime" after the date of discharge, are eligible for vacating the record of conviction. ARP at 1:23-25. She argues that because the 2008 felony conviction was committed prior to the date of discharge for the 2006 felony conviction,

she had not been convicted of a "new crime" within the meaning of the statute. ARP at 2:1-5. This interpretation is not supported by a plain reading of the statute, the provision's context within the statute, or the broader statutory scheme.

This ruling does not depart from Supreme Court precedent regarding rules of statutory interpretation. Statutory interpretation is "to determine and give effect to the intent of the legislature." State v. Evans, 177 Wn.2d 186, 192, 298 P.3d 724 (2013) (quoting State v. Sweany, 174 Wn.2d 909, 914, 281 P.3d 305 (2012)). The legislative intent is derived solely from the plain language enacted by the legislature, considering the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. Evans, 177 Wn.2d at 192; State v. Ervin, 169 Wn.2d 815, 820, 239 P.3d 354 (2010); Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, then the court's inquiry is at an end and the statute will be enforced in accordance with its plain meaning. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007).

The legislature clearly intended to focus on the conviction of a new crime, not the date on which the crime took place. The statute would not make sense otherwise. To give effect to the defendant's interpretation

would render section (2)(d) without consequence for committing a crime at any moment between the commission of the first crime and the date of discharge. Therefore, the legislative intent is clearly unambiguous and leaves Supreme Court precedent undisturbed.

2. The issue is not of substantial public interest.

Ms. Sleater contends that the Court of Appeals's decision will negatively impact the State's lower courts creating an issue of substantial public interest. PRV at 3. An appellate court, when deciding if an issue is of substantial public interest, considers three factors: (1) the nature of the question is public rather than private; (2) the decision will offer guidance to public officials; and (3) the question is likely to recur. *State v. Beaver*, 184 Wn.2d 321, 358 P.3d 385 (2015). The application of this criteria is necessary to ensure that an actual benefit to the public interest in reviewing a case outweighs the harm of issuing what would be essentially an advisory opinion. *Hart v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 111 Wn.2d 445, 450, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988). This framework, most often applied as an exception to hear the case when a controversy is moot, provides analyses in which to review the defendant's request.

The issue requested for review does not meet the test in *Beaver*because the plain reading of the statute is unambiguous. "Cases involving.
. . interpretation of statutes are public in nature and provide guidance to

future public officials." *Beaver*, 184 Wn.2d at 331 (citing *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 908, 287 P.3d 584 (2012)). Only if the Court finds the statute ambiguous would Ms. Sleater's claim meet the requirements of the first two factors. In this case, no interpretation of the statute is needed because a plain reading reveals no ambiguity.

The last factor in the *Beaver* test asks whether the question is likely to recur. *Beaver*, 184 Wn.2nd at 321. Ms. Sleater's argument is based, in part, on the fact lower courts hear thousands of motions to vacate convictions every year. PRV at 3. However, the State contends the facts surrounding this case are extremely rare. Although thousands of petitions may be heard, it can be expected very few offenders apply to vacate a conviction when they have committed a second crime also requiring a petition to vacate. It is simply easier to wait for the requisite time in which the offender can vacate both. Meaning, the question presented by the Ms. Sleater is very unlikely to recur.

The Court of Appeals included a comprehensive analysis with its decision. *State v. Sleater*, 403 P.3d 84, 86 (2017). Any more commentary on this issue would essentially be an advisory opinion. *Hart*, 111 Wn.2d at 450. The Court of Appeals's decision does not create a matter of substantial public interest requiring further review.

IV. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petition for review should be denied.